S278481

No.		
INU.		

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JOHN'S GRILL, INC., ET AL.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

THE HARTFORD FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC., ET AL.,

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A162709, Partially Affirming and Partially Reversing a Judgment Entered by the Superior Court for the County of San Francisco, Case No. CGC20584184, The Honorable Ethan P. Schulman, Presiding.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Anthony J. Anscombe (SB #70581) STEPTOE & JOHNSON LLP One Market Plaza Steuart Tower, 10th Flr., Ste. 1070 San Francisco, CA 94105 (415) 365-6700 aanscombe@steptoe.com

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the Court of Appeal improperly apply the illusory-coverage doctrine—which has traditionally been employed as an interpretive tool to ensure that an *exclusion* is not read so broadly as to withdraw virtually all coverage—to erase an express *condition* of coverage based on its conclusion that this *particular* insured would be unlikely to satisfy the condition, even though the condition does not withdraw all coverage?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal err in finding that "simply wiping and cleaning surfaces" of imperceptible and evanescent viral "particulates" is enough to trigger coverage under a provision that conditionally covers "[d]irect physical loss or direct physical damage to Covered Property caused by ... virus, including the cost of removal of the ... virus"?

INTRODUCTION

In this case, the First District Court of Appeal took a property-insurance policy that is generally triggered only by "direct physical loss of or physical damage to" property, and which expressly excludes coverage for "loss or damage caused directly or indirectly by ... [a] virus," and rewrote it to provide coverage for the cost of "simply wiping and cleaning surfaces" to remove imperceptible and evanescent viral "particulates." Opinion ("Op.") at 2, 25. It has held, in effect, that Defendant Sentinel Insurance Company, Ltd. is

liable to pay Plaintiff John's Grill (a San Francisco restaurant) for the cost of cleaning every time its employees wipe the counter or mop the floor.

Though the result seems frivolous, the way the Panel reached it is concerning. The Panel not only misread this particular insurance policy, but also misapplied the "illusory coverage" doctrine in ways that may disrupt the insurance market in California and unsettle California contract law more broadly.

As the Court knows, the last three years have witnessed a cascade of lawsuits filed by business owners seeking coverage under their property-insurance policies for income lost during the pandemic, when government orders required them to suspend or reduce operations. In almost all, courts have held that pandemic-related losses are not covered because property-insurance coverage is triggered by direct *physical* loss of or *physical* damage to *property*, and COVID-19 harms people, not property.¹

This Court has denied petitions for review in three such cases—see Apple Annie, LLC v. Oregon Mut. Ins. Co. (Dec. 14, 2022) S276814; Musso & Frank Grill Co. v. Mitsui Sumitomo Ins. USA (Aug. 10, 2022) S274791; Inns-by-the-Sea v. California Mut. Ins. Co. (Mar. 9, 2022) S272450—and denied a nonparty request for depublication in a fourth, see United Talent Agency v. Vigilant Ins. Co. (July 20, 2022) S275146.

Noting disagreement among California's District Courts of Appeal, the Ninth Circuit recently certified to this

Here, the Panel endorsed the majority view that "direct physical loss of or damage to property' requires a 'distinct, demonstrable, physical alteration of the property' and cannot be synonymous with mere 'loss of use," and that "allegations merely 'showing the alleged presence of COVID-19 in or on the covered property are not sufficient to trigger coverage when direct physical loss of or damage to property is required." Op. at 14, 16 (citations omitted).

But it reached a contradictory result when it considered a policy endorsement that broadly *excludes* coverage for loss or damage caused by a virus (or fungi, wet rot, dry rot, or bacteria) while carving out a *limited* exception if the virus (or fungi, and so forth) results from a "specified cause of loss" or "Equipment Breakdown Accident," as those terms are defined in the policy. Like the other courts that have addressed this "Limited Coverage," the Panel

Court the question whether the presence of the COVID-19 virus on surfaces can constitute physical loss or damage. See Another Planet Entertainment, LLC v. Vigilant Ins. Co. (9th Cir. 2022) 56 F.4th 730. Although this appeal concerns some of the same issues raised in Another Planet—including whether the presence of such viral particles on surfaces constitutes physical loss or damage to property—the petition raises distinct issues that have repercussions beyond the immediate context of COVID-19 insurance litigation. This petition could therefore be granted to accompany a grant of review in Another Planet, but it should also be granted on its own if the Court denies the Ninth Circuit's certification request.

acknowledged that Plaintiffs did not satisfy the conditions to coverage because the virus causing COVID-19 did not result from a specified cause of loss or Equipment Breakdown Accident. But while every other court (23 out of 24) has concluded that the Limited Coverage does not provide coverage when its conditions are not satisfied, the Panel instead decided to *ignore* the conditions to coverage and hold that Plaintiffs are entitled to coverage anyway.

The Panel reasoned that the specified-cause-of-loss condition "is indecipherable when applied to viruses," and therefore "renders the Limited Virus Coverage virtually illusory." Op. at 32–33. It therefore erased the specified-cause-of-loss condition from the policy and (ignoring or overlooking the other conditions to coverage) went on to hold that the Limited Coverage was triggered by Plaintiffs' allegation that "droplets" containing COVID-19 were present on surfaces in and around the restaurant. *Id.* at 25. It thus transformed a policy that was meant to *exclude* coverage for loss or damage caused by a virus, except in "limited" circumstances, into a policy that *extends* coverage to *any* loss or damage caused by a virus—including the mere cost of routine cleaning.

The Panel's application of the illusory-coverage doctrine is unprecedented and could have untold (and unanticipated) consequences beyond the confines of this case. The illusory-coverage doctrine has traditionally been

employed as an interpretive tool, to avoid reading an exclusion or limitation in an insurance policy so broadly that it would render illusory an express extension of coverage. But "an insurance policy does not afford illusory coverage if some material coverage is afforded." 2 Windt, Insurance Claims and Disputes § 6:2 (6th ed.) (emphasis added). As every other court considering this question has observed, the Limited Coverage clearly affords *some* material coverage. It applies not only to loss or damage caused by a virus, but also by fungi, wet rot, dry rot, and bacteria—perils that can easily result from a specified cause of loss (like water damage) and cause physical loss or damage to property. Indeed, the coverage has been applied in these situations, see, e.g., WPB No. 1, LLC v. Valley Forge Ins. Co. (S.D. Cal. Mar. 27, 2007) 2007 WL 9702161, at *1 (mold resulting from hurricane, requiring remediation), and comparable coverage has even been applied to a virus, see generally Curtis O. Griess & Sons, Inc. v. Farm Bureau Ins. Co. of Nebraska (Neb. 1995) 528 N.W.2d 329 (pseudorabies virus resulting from windstorm caused physical damage to livestock).

While the Panel did not dispute that the Limited Coverage affords coverage in some cases, it saw no "realistic prospect of *John's Grill*"—i.e., this *particular* policyholder—"ever benefitting from" coverage for a *virus* in particular. Op.

at 39 (emphasis added).² In other words, it concluded that a coverage provision is illusory if a *particular* policyholder is unlikely to benefit from *every* combination of perils and losses insured against. This ignores the reality of the insurance market.

The Virus Endorsement is not a bespoke coverage form, negotiated by Sentinel and Plaintiffs to ensure optimum coverage. It is, as Plaintiffs alleged, a "standard insurance product[] ... appearing not just in th[eir] Policy but in countless other policies ... in California and elsewhere" AA89. It is available to all sorts of businesses from art galleries and restaurants to pet stores and hair salons. The Limited Coverage may benefit some of these policyholders more than others. But it is both unrealistic and unreasonable to hold that the coverage is *illusory* just because one particular policyholder is *unlikely* to receive coverage for one particular type of loss.

The Panel's aggressive and unprecedented application of the illusory-coverage doctrine could wreak havoc on the California insurance market if left standing. Insurance

Although the Panel acknowledged that a "dog kennel or a pet store" might benefit from Limited Coverage for a virus, Op. at 37, it discounted the possibility that John's Grill could suffer loss or damage to "living property." (This despite the fact that lobster and "oysters wellington" are among the restaurant's specialties.)

companies do not, and cannot, tailor every policy to each particular customer's business. That is why policy forms are submitted to the California Insurance Commission for approval. But the Panel's decision would have insurers pore over each insured's policy terms to ensure that every conditional coverage grant (even those that are limited carve-outs to general exclusions) can be triggered frequently enough (how frequent, the Panel did not say) to not be deemed "virtually illusory." Alternatively, insurers will be compelled to eliminate limited coverages altogether to avoid the risk of a judge finding them "indecipherable" and therefore erasing the conditions to create unlimited coverage.

The Panel's decision is both wrong and pernicious. This Court should grant review to bring the First District back in line, not only with the other courts that have rejected the arguments it embraced, but also with the traditional and long-established understanding of illusory promises throughout the country.³

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs—a restaurant and its owner—suffered income losses during the pandemic, when they were forced to

Alternatively, and at a minimum, the Panel's opinion should be depublished to avoid the unanticipated consequences and unanswered questions it raises.

suspend, and then limit, operations in compliance with government orders. AA77–83. They sought coverage for their business losses under their property-insurance policy (the "Policy"), but Sentinel denied their claims because "the coronavirus did not cause property damage at your place of business or in the immediate area" and, even if it had, loss or damage caused by a "virus" is excluded under the Policy. AA177.

I. Relevant Policy Provisions

The Policy includes a "Special Property Coverage Form" with the following basic grant of coverage:

We will pay for *direct physical loss of or physical damage to* Covered Property at the premises described in the Declarations (also called "scheduled premises" in this policy) caused by or resulting from a Covered Cause of Loss.

AA292 (emphasis added).⁴ On top of this core property coverage, Section 5 of the Special Property Coverage Form describes "additional coverages," which cover potential losses that might accompany direct physical loss or damage to property. AA294–303. Two are relevant here—the Business Income and Civil Authority coverages. AA83–86. Each requires direct physical loss of or direct physical damage to

⁴ "Covered Causes of Loss" means "risks of direct physical loss," except where otherwise excluded or limited. AA293.

property, either the insured's property or property nearby. AA301–02, 392.

The Policy also includes a "Limited Fungi, Bacteria or Virus Coverage" endorsement (the "Virus Endorsement"), which contains both a "Virus Exclusion" and the Limited Coverage described above. AA395–97. The Virus Exclusion (one of two in the Virus Endorsement) provides:

We will not pay for loss or damage caused directly or indirectly by any of the following. Such loss or damage is excluded regardless of any other cause or event that contributes concurrently or in any sequence to the loss:

- (1) Presence, growth, proliferation, spread or any activity of 'fungi', wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus.
- (2) But if "fungi", wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus results in a "specified cause of loss" to Covered Property, we will pay for the loss or damage caused by that "specified cause of loss".

This exclusion does not apply:

- (1) When "fungi", wet or dry rot, bacteria or virus results from fire or lightning; or
- (2) To the extent that coverage is provided in the Additional Coverage Limited Coverage for "Fungi", Wet Rot, Dry Rot, Bacteria and Virus with respect to loss or damage by a cause of loss other than fire or lightning.

This exclusion applies whether or not the loss event results in widespread damage or affects a substantial area. AA395 (emphasis added). "Specified cause of loss" means: "Fire; lightning; explosion; windstorm or hail; smoke; aircraft or vehicles; riot or civil commotion; vandalism; leakage from fire extinguishing equipment; sinkhole collapse; volcanic action; falling objects; weight of snow, ice or sleet; [and] water damage." AA316.

In other words, the Virus Endorsement generally excludes coverage for loss or damage caused by or relating to fungi, rot, bacteria, or virus, except where the fungi, rot, bacteria, or virus results in a specified cause of loss, like fire or water damage. And the exclusion does not apply when the fungi, rot, bacteria, or virus results from fire or lightning (two traditionally covered risks in property-insurance policies), or if the narrow Limited Coverage provides coverage.

The Limited Coverage is set forth in Section B of the Virus Endorsement. AA396–97. It begins by emphasizing the limited nature of the coverage provided:

- a. The coverage described in 1.b. below *only* applies when the "fungi", wet or dry rot, bacteria or virus is the result of one or more of the following causes that occurs during the policy period and *only if all reasonable* means were used to save and preserve the property from further damage at the time of and after that occurrence.
 - (1) A "specified cause of loss" other than fire or lightning;

(2) Equipment Breakdown Accident occurs to Equipment Breakdown Property, if Equipment Breakdown applies to the affected premises.

AA396 (emphasis added).

The Limited Coverage thus depends on two express conditions precedent: *First*, the virus (or fungi, rot, or bacteria) at issue must result from either a "specified cause of loss" (defined above to mean things like windstorm or hail, smoke, or water damage) or an Equipment Breakdown Accident (as defined elsewhere in the Policy). *Second*, the insured must have used "all reasonable means" to "preserve the property from further damage." *Id*.

If both those conditions are met, the Limited Coverage will pay for "loss or damage" caused by the virus (or other peril) under Subsection B.1.b:

- b. We will pay for *loss or damage* by "fungi", wet rot, dry rot, bacteria and virus. *As used in this Limited Coverage, the term loss or damage means*:
 - (1) Direct physical loss or direct physical damage to Covered Property caused by "fungi", wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus, including the cost of removal of the "fungi", wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus;
 - (2) The cost to *tear out and replace* any part of the building or other property as needed to gain access to the "fungi", wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus; and

(3) The cost of testing performed after removal, repair, replacement or restoration of the damaged property is completed, provided there is a reason to believe that "fungi", wet rot, dry rot, bacteria or virus are present.

Id. (emphasis added).

The phrase "loss or damage" in the Limited Coverage thus incorporates and supplements the phrase "direct physical loss of or direct physical damage to" as used elsewhere in the Policy: If a virus (or fungi, rot, or bacteria) causes direct physical loss or direct physical damage to covered property, then, assuming the conditions on coverage are satisfied, the Limited Coverage will pay not only for that physical loss or damage, but also the associated costs of removing the virus (or other peril), tearing out property to access it, and testing it after the property is repaired, replaced, or restored. But there still must be direct physical loss or direct physical damage—otherwise, the Limited Coverage would be triggered every time an insured wiped a countertop clean after a customer with a cold sneezed (thereby removing a virus) or an employee prepared a hamburger using raw meat (thereby removing bacteria). See infra 43–44.

II. Plaintiffs' Complaint

Plaintiffs' complaint relied mainly on the Business Income and Civil Authority coverages. *See* AA83–86. It

raised the Limited Coverage primarily in support of its unfair-practices claim, and to rebut Sentinel's assertion that the Virus Exclusion barred coverage. *See* AA86–91. That said, it did seek a declaration that "the presence of the Coronavirus in and on the Insured Premises triggers the Policy's Limited Virus Coverage," and that the coverage "provides up to \$50,000 in coverage for 30 days lost business income ... as well as direct physical loss or damage, including the cost [] of testing for virus in the Scheduled Premises" AA101.

While Plaintiffs alleged that "droplets containing Coronavirus" were present in and around the premises, AA84–85, they did not allege that these droplets *physically altered* the property, as necessary to trigger coverage under policies requiring "direct physical loss or direct physical damage." *See Inns-by-the-Sea v. California Mut. Ins. Co.* (2021) 71 Cal.App.5th 688, 706; *Mudpie, Inc. v. Travelers Cas. Ins. Co. of Am.* (9th Cir. 2021) 15 F.4th 885, 892. Nor did Plaintiffs allege that these droplets resulted from a specified cause of loss or that they incurred costs to remove the virus from their property, tear out property to access it, or test it.

III. The Decisions Below

Sentinel demurred to the complaint, arguing mainly that the Virus Exclusion barred Plaintiffs' claims. Plaintiffs argued both that the Virus Exclusion did not apply, and that the Limited Coverage did, because the specified-cause-of-loss condition was impossible to satisfy and therefore unenforceable under the illusory-coverage doctrine.

The Superior Court granted Sentinel's demurrer, holding that the Policy's Virus Exclusion unambiguously barred coverage for Plaintiffs' losses, and that the Limited Coverage, though not illusory, did not apply. AA744–47. As the court observed, "[t]he Limited Coverage would be illusory if there were no possibility of coverage under the policy," so that Sentinel "assume[d] no obligation." AA746 (emphasis added) (quoting Scottsdale Ins. Co. v. Essex Ins. Co. (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 86, 95). But Sentinel did assume an obligation, because "[i]t is not a stretch of the imagination to conclude that some of the listed specified causes of loss (e.g. water damage or windstorm) could cause fungi damage. In addition, it is possible that a windstorm could cause a virus." Id.

Plaintiffs appealed, arguing that the trial court erred in holding that the Virus Exclusion barred their claims, because the exclusion "relates solely to contamination on the insured premises," and not to pandemics. Appellants' Opening Brief at 22. At the same time, they insisted that "some of [their] losses should still be covered" by the Limited Coverage because they satisfied all the conditions to that coverage except the specified-cause-of-loss condition, which

they maintained was "impossible to satisfy" and therefore unenforceable. *Id.* at 26–27, 30.

Sentinel responded, arguing that the Virus Exclusion unambiguously barred coverage for all "loss or damage caused directly or indirectly by," among other things, the "spread" or "activity" of a "virus," Respondents' Opening Brief at 26–35 (citing AA395), and that the Limited Coverage, while inapplicable, is not illusory, *id.* at 35–44. Sentinel cited dozens of decisions—from California and across the country—interpreting this same policy this way. *Id.* at 37–42. Sentinel also argued that, even if the Virus Exclusion did not apply (or if the Limited Coverage did), there would still be no coverage because Plaintiffs did not suffer direct physical loss of or direct physical damage to property, as necessary to trigger any coverage under the Policy. *Id.* at 44–46.

The case was argued on September 29, 2022. On November 8, 2022, the Panel ordered the parties to file supplemental briefs addressing a new theory of coverage which Plaintiffs, to that point, had never even *mentioned*, let alone pleaded. A few weeks later, the parties reached a settlement, which was expressly conditioned on the appeal being dismissed. Plaintiffs filed a joint stipulation to the dismissal of the appeal on December 12, 2022. The Panel did not dismiss the appeal, however, and instead issued its decision on December 27, 2022.

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