#### No. S278481

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

# JOHN'S GRILL, INC., *et al.*, Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

THE HARTFORD FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC., *et al.*, Defendants and Respondents.

After a published decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A162709, affirming in part and reversing in part a judgment entered by the Superior Court for the County of San Francisco, Case No. CGC-20-584184, the Hon. Ethan P. Schulman presiding

#### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

The Petition for Review should be denied for two main reasons. First, the potential impact of taking the case is minimal because the Limited Virus Coverage endorsement is used only by Hartford affiliates, exposes those insurers to limited liability, contains multiple provisions that are unique in the industry, and is plagued by poor drafting which the Court of Appeal found rendered it indecipherable when applied to viruses. *Infra* § V.A. Second, the decision below was careful, well-reasoned, and correctly decided, and there are no compelling grounds to grant review. *Infra* § V.B.

# A. The Petition Should Be Denied Because the Potential Impact of the Case Is Minimal.

# 1. The Limited Virus Coverage is used only by Hartford affiliates, and it exposes them to minimal liability.

Many insurance policies, including commercial property policies, use standardized coverage forms and endorsements prepared by trade organizations, such as the Insurance Services Office ("ISO"). *See, e.g.*, *Hartford Fire Ins. Co. v. California* (1993) 509 U.S. 764, 772 (explaining the ISO is an "association of approximately 1,400 domestic property and casualty insurers" that "develops standard policy forms and files or lodges them with each State's insurance regulators").

For example, in Covid-19 business interruption litigation, by far the most common "virus exclusion" that courts in California and around the country have encountered is the 2006 ISO commercial property endorsement titled "Exclusion of Loss Due to Virus or Bacteria" (Form CP 01 40 07 06). *See, e.g., Musso & Frank Grill Co., Inc. v. Mitsui Sumitomo Ins. USA Inc.* (2022) 77 Cal.App.5th 753, 756, *rev. denied* (Aug. 10, 2022) ("*Musso & Frank*") (policy containing the 2006 ISO virus exclusion).<sup>9</sup> A

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See also Marina Pacific Hotel and Suites, LLC v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. (2022) 81 Cal.App.5th 96, 112-13 (describing the 2006 ISO virus exclusion's history, widespread use, and "all-encompassing" language); Inns-by-the-Sea v. California Mut. Ins. Co. (2021) 71 Cal.App.5th 688, 708, rev. denied (Mar. 9, 2022) (same); Charles M. Miller, et al., Covid-19 and Business-Income Insurance: The History of "Physical Loss" and What Insurers Intended It to Mean (Fall 2022) 57 TORT TRIAL & INS. PRAC. L.J.

ruling interpreting the language of such an endorsement that is widely used in the industry could have a correspondingly broad impact.<sup>10</sup>

Here, by contrast, the Limited Virus Coverage endorsement is used by only a single insurer (i.e., Sentinel and other Hartford affiliates). *See John's Grill*, 86 Cal.App.5th at 1225 n.18; *see also* AA 395-97 (the endorsement is copyrighted "2005, The Hartford"). Moreover, the Limited Virus Coverage is subject to sharply reduced \$50,000 limit of insurance, which, at least in the case of John's Grill, is one-eightieth (or 1.25%) of the regular \$4 million limit for business interruption coverage. AA 272-73.

Based on this, Sentinel greatly exaggerates the purported marketdisrupting consequences of the decision below. *See, e.g.*, Pet. at 13 (arguing that the "aggressive and unprecedented" decision below "could wreak havoc on the California insurance market if left standing"). Such exaggeration is especially apparent when one considers that Hartford and its affiliates could, for purposes of all future policies, simply rewrite the

<sup>675, 693-95,</sup> *available at* https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract \_id=4130730 (same); ISO Circular, *New Endorsements Filed To Address Exclusion of Loss Due to Virus or Bacteria* (July 6, 2006), *available at* https://perma.cc/NXM6-36HM (ISO announcing its 2006 virus exclusion, explaining its contents, and including a copy of the endorsement).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> *Cf.* National Association of Insurance Commissioners, *NAIC Covid-19 Report for 2020: Year in Review* at 23 (Feb. 16, 2021), *available at* https://content.naic.org/sites/default/files/naic-covid-19-report-update3-eoy-2020.pdf ("Our analysis of business interruption insurance nationwide showed 83% of policies have exclusions for virus, bacteria and pandemics").

endorsement to correct the issues identified by the Court of Appeal—or use a different endorsement altogether. While such changes would presumably cause Hartford and Sentinel to incur some expense and inconvenience, these are the routine cost of doing business as a major insurer. It is not a reason to grant review.

# 2. The Limited Virus Coverage's relevant provisions are unique in the industry.

An even more compelling reason for denying review is that the case turns on the interpretation of highly unusual provisions that are unique to the Limited Virus Coverage in at least two ways.

*First*, most standard insurance policies either exclude losses caused by virus (i.e., contain a virus exclusion) or do not exclude such losses. *Cf.*, *supra*, note 10. By contrast, Sentinel's Limited Virus Coverage takes a hybrid approach. It provides an affirmative grant of coverage for losses caused by virus up to a \$50,000 limit and excludes any virus-caused losses beyond that amount. AA 272, 395-97. Thus, issues such as whether to apply the Limited Virus Coverage's exclusion before applying its grant of limited coverage, or whether instead to apply the limited coverage grant before assessing whether and to what extent the virus exclusion applies, may prove significant to the proper interpretation of this particular endorsement. *See John's Grill*, 86 Cal.App.5th at 1212, 1227-28. But

resolution of such issues is unlikely to have much of a broader legal or market impact.

Second, whereas virtually all standard property policies require "direct physical loss of or damage to property" (or similar language) but do not further define any aspect of that phrase,<sup>11</sup> the Sentinel endorsement here *expressly defines* the phrase as "including the cost of removal of the ...virus" (AA 396 [§ B.1.b]), a phrase that the Court of Appeal held is "capacious enough to include cleaning the surfaces of the property." *Id.* at 1212. As the Court of Appeal found, the Limited Virus Coverage's "special definition" of direct physical loss or loss or damage, *id.* at 1201, 1215, 1216, 1218, 1219, makes the vast majority of Covid-19 business interruption cases addressing the issue of physical loss or damage including all such cases from the California Courts of Appeal and the Ninth Circuit—readily "distinguishable." *Id.* at 1211.

With respect to the "*Mudpie* line of cases" that "conclude that 'direct physical loss of or damage to property' requires a 'distinct, demonstrable, physical alteration of the property," *id.* at 1209, the Court of Appeal held they were all distinguishable:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> *Cf.* National Association of Insurance Commissioners, *NAIC Covid-19 Report for 2020: Year in Review* at 23 (Feb. 16, 2021), *available at* https://content.naic.org/sites/default/files/naic-covid-19-report-update3eoy-2020.pdf ("Our analysis of business interruption insurance nationwide showed ... 98% [of policies] require a physical loss for a claim.").

[I]n this case, the *Mudpie* line of cases may be dealt with in a [] straightforward way: It is distinguishable. Because the Limited Fungi or Virus Coverage Endorsement adds virusspecific language to the Policy that is not present in COVID-19 business interruption insurance cases involving form language without material modification, those cases involve "very different policy provisions" and are not controlling here. *Amy's Kitchen, Inc. v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.* (2022) 83 Cal.App.5th 1062, 1069, 299 Cal.Rptr.3d 885 (*Amy's Kitchen*).)

*Id.* at 1211.

Sentinel can rail against the Court of Appeal's conclusion that the Limited Virus Coverage covering "the cost of removal of the ... virus" is "broad enough to encompass simply wiping and cleaning surfaces," but that is a common-sense interpretation of the phrase that Sentinel chose to use. *Cf*, Pet. at 8, 39 (Sentinel arguing the Court of Appeal "rewrote [the Policy] to provide coverage for the cost of 'simply wiping and cleaning surfaces'"); *id.* at 41 (arguing "it is obvious that the parties did not intend there to be coverage for the cost of 'wiping and cleaning surfaces'"); id. at 42 ("it cannot be that 'wiping and cleaning surfaces' *itself* constitutes 'loss or damage""). And even if the Court of Appeal's interpretation were not mandated by the plain meaning of the endorsement's text, it is axiomatic in California insurance law that ambiguities in policy language are generally resolved against the insurer. Yahoo, 14 Cal.5th at 67; AIU Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (1990) 51 Cal.3d 807, 822. If Sentinel wishes its endorsement to not cover "the cost of removal of ... virus," it is free to

rewrite the endorsement for future use, but it cannot ask the courts to rewrite it with respect to policies already issued, and for which the premiums have already been paid.

#### 3. The Limited Virus Coverage's poor drafting, which the Court of Appeal found "indecipherable," also militates against review.

The Panel found that the Limited Virus Coverage was "indecipherable when applied to viruses." John's Grill, 86 Cal.App.5th at 1221. Specifically, the Court of Appeal found that the third condition that John's Grill alleges is illusory—i.e., that the virus must "be the 'result of' one of a number of enumerated causes"—did not make sense because "none of the listed causes has anything to do with the biological processes that actually cause a virus." *Id.* (quoting AA 396 [§ B.1.a]). While the Panel found it could make the language make sense by *changing* it ("Only if the words are taken to refer to circumstances in which a specified cause is a vector for transmission of a virus does the language begin to make any sense"), "that is not what the words say." Id. "The applicable principles for interpreting insurance contracts do not compel us to resolve the ambiguity by placing a gloss on the text of the Policy, friendly to Sentinel, so that Subparagraph B.1.a. makes sense as applied." Id. at 1222.

In petitioning for review of the decision below, Sentinel effectively seeks a ruling from this Court that the Court of Appeal got it wrong because the Limited Virus Coverage endorsement actually makes perfect sense. It

does not. Sentinel spends dozens of pages attempting to parse and explain the endorsement's language and show how all the puzzle pieces fit together, but it never succeeds. Its arguments are strained, difficult to follow, and even occasionally illustrate precisely why the Panel found the Limited Virus Coverage so indecipherable.<sup>12</sup> In short, the convoluted Limited Virus Coverage is not a promising vehicle for clarifying California insurance law.

Contrary to Sentinel's recurring insinuations, the decision below is a not a consequence of a unanimous Court of Appeal panel gone rogue. *See, e.g.*, Pet. at 9 (calling Panel's interpretation of the Limited Virus Coverage endorsement "frivolous"); *id.* at 13 ("aggressive and unprecedented"); *id.* at 22 (asserting, erroneously, that the Panel injected "a new theory of coverage" into the case after oral argument); *id.* at 38 (asserting Panel "ignored the plain meaning" of the Limited Virus Coverage endorsement). Rather, it is a consequence of Sentinel selling Limited Virus Coverage with terms that are so convoluted and poorly drafted that three out of three Court of Appeal justices, after full briefing and argument (and supplemental

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> One of the better examples of why the Limited Virus Coverage's "specified cause of loss" requirement makes no sense as applied to virus comes from Sentinel's own Petition, in which its attempt to draft a case parenthetical to match the syntax of the Limited Virus Coverage results in the parenthetical making no sense: "... see generally Curtis O. Griess & Sons, Inc. v. Farm Bureau Ins. Co. of Nebraska (Neb. 1995) 528 N.W.2d 329 (*pseudorabies virus resulting from windstorm* caused physical damage to livestock)." Pet. at 12 (emphasis added).

briefing), still found it "indecipherable." *John's Grill*, 86 Cal.App.5th at 1221.<sup>13</sup>

\* \* \*

In sum, the facts that the Limited Virus Coverage endorsement is used only by Hartford affiliates, has provisions that are unique in the industry, and makes little sense as applied to viruses, all militate against granting review.

#### **B.** There Are No Compelling Reasons to Take This Case.

# **1.** The unanimous decision below correctly applied the illusory coverage doctrine.

In addition to the decision below being unanimous and extremely careful and well-reasoned in construing unusual policy provisions, it also has the benefit of having correctly applied the illusory coverage doctrine. The Court of Appeal held that the "specified cause of loss" condition of obtaining the Limited Virus Coverage rendered that coverage little more than an "empty promise," and the condition was therefore "unenforceable under the illusory coverage doctrine." *John's Grill*, 86 Cal.App.5th at 1202; *see also id.* at 1124 (holding that, by including the specified-cause-of-loss

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See also AA 625 n.5, 628 (demurrer opposition) (John's Grill arguing that the Limited Virus Coverage endorsement "appears to have been written originally only for fungus and mold" (which can be "the result of" a specified cause of loss), and that virus (which cannot be "the result of" a specified cause of loss) was "added later").

condition in the endorsement, "Sentinel has, 'through sweeping language,' rendered the Policy's virus coverage terms 'virtually illusory.'" [quoting *Julian v. Hartford Underwriters Ins. Co.* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 747, 760]). In reaching this conclusion, the Panel carefully considered, but ultimately rejected, each of Sentinel's arguments.

*First*, the Panel rejected Sentinel's argument that, because the Limited Virus Coverage endorsement applied to multiple perils, the illusory coverage doctrine does not apply so long as there is a possibility of coverage under some combination of perils and specified causes of loss (e.g., wet rot caused by water damage). *See id.* at 1222. The Court rejected that because "[i]t not only flies in the face of the principle that we must give effect to all the words of the Policy," but also because "[i]nsurers cannot take in premium for a coverage grant that names a specifically covered risk—here virus contamination—and then justify denying coverage for it under all circumstances because some other risk may be covered under the same coverage grant." *Id.; contra* Pet. at 33 (Sentinel rehashing the same argument).

Second, the Panel rejected Sentinel's "fallback argument" that "if we squint hard enough, the Limited Virus Coverage grant, as narrowed by the Specified Causes Clause, does indeed provide for a sliver of coverage." *Id.* Throughout this litigation, Sentinel's lead example of when this sliver of coverage might exist comes from a single case, Curtis *O. Griess & Sons,* 

*Inc. v. Farm Bureau Ins. Co. of Nebraska* (Neb. 1995) 528 N.W.2d 329 ("*Griess*"). In *Griess*, a rural policyholder contended that a tornado had picked up virus-infected pigs from another property and carried them onto his farm, resulting in loss and damage to his insured swine herd. *Id.* at 331.<sup>14</sup> Based largely on this one hypothetical example, Sentinel has repeatedly argued that its promise to indemnify John's Grill, a restaurant in downtown San Francisco, against losses caused by virus was non-illusory. *See, e.g.*, Pet. at 34; *see also John's Grill*, 86 Cal.App.5th at 1223 (discussing an Iowa case, on which *Griess* relied, in which insured cows were infected with a virus due to be attacked by wild animals).

The Court of Appeal, however, rejected this argument, bluntly stating: "We fail to see what these oddball scenarios have to do with this case." *Id.*; *see also id.* at 1222 (noting that Sentinel's arguments relied on "exceedingly rare, even freakish" circumstances in which coverage might exist). Citing this Court's decision in *Julian v. Hartford Underwriters*, the

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